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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 
 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

 
ERIN O’DONNELL 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
and  
 
WILFREDO DIAZ 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
and 
 
CHRISTOPHER EREG 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
and 
 
MICHAEL FARLEY 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
Plaintiffs 
 

)
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)
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  )  
 )  

vs. )  
 )  
 
CYNTHIA MOORE 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
and 
 
MICHAEL RINKUS 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
and 
 
WILLIAM SALUPO 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
and 
 
BRIAN SABOLIK 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
and 
 
SCOTT SISTEK 
     C/o Jonathan Rosenbaum 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 
     Elyria, Ohio 44035 
 
         Plaintiffs 
 
        vs. 
 
CITY OF CLEVELAND 
C/o Barbara A. Langhenry, Law Director 
601 Lakeside Ave., Rm 201 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 

)
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)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
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and 
 
MICHAEL MCGRATH 
In his individual capacity and his official 
capacity as the former Chief of Police and  
current Safety Director 
601 Lakeside East Ave. Room 230 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 
 
and 
 
MARTIN FLASK 
In his individual capacity and his official 
capacity the former Safety Director and 
current Chief Executive to the mayor 
601 Lakeside East Ave. Room 210 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 
 
and 
 
CALVIN WILLIAMS 
In his individual capacity and his official 
capacity as former Deputy Chief of Police and 
current capacity as Chief of Police 
1300 Ontario Street 
Cleveland, Ohio 44113 
and 
 
FRANK G. JACKSON 
In his official capacity as Mayor 
601 Lakeside East Ave. Room 210 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 
 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
) 

 )  
 Defendants )  

 

 

Plaintiffs Erin O’Donnell, Wilfredo Diaz, Christopher Ereg, Michael Farley, Cynthia 

Moore, Michael Rinkus, William Salupo, Brian Sabolik, and Scott Sistek hereby state as their 

Complaint against the City of Cleveland, Michael McGrath (individually and officially), Martin 
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Flask (individually and officially), Calvin Williams (individually and officially) and Frank G. 

Jackson (as mayor) as follows:  

Parties 

1. At all times relevant, Plaintiffs were and are residents of Cuyahoga and Lorain Counties, Ohio 

and employed as police officers by the City of Cleveland, Division of Police. Many of the 

Plaintiffs have received accommodations, awards, and transfers to specialized units of the police 

department. 

2. Defendant City of Cleveland is a municipal corporation under the laws of the state of Ohio and a 

political subdivision situated in Cuyahoga County Ohio. 

3. Michael McGrath is an individual believed to reside in Cuyahoga County, Ohio and at all times 

relevant was employed by the City of Cleveland as either its Chief of Police or Safety Director. 

4. Martin Flask is an individual believed to reside in Cuyahoga County, Ohio and at all times 

relevant was employed by the City of Cleveland either as the Safety Director or the Chief 

Executive to the Mayor of Cleveland. 

5. Calvin Williams is an individual believed to reside in Cuyahoga County, Ohio and at all times 

relevant was employed by the City of Cleveland either as a Deputy Chief of Police or the Chief 

of Police. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

6. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphs of this complaint as if fully rewritten herein. 

7. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to 28 USC § 1331. Additionally Plaintiffs are 

seeking relief for the violation of their federal civil rights under 28 U.S.C. § 1343 (Civil rights 

and Elective Franchise) and under 42 U.S. C. § 1981 and §1983. This Court has supplemental 

jurisdiction of the state claims presented pursuant to 28 USC § 1367 because the state court 
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claims are so related to claims in this action of which this Court has original jurisdiction that they 

form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution. 

8. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 USC § 1391 (b) because it is a judicial district 

where the defendants reside, and a judicial district in which a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claim occurred. 

Facts Common to All Causes of Action 

9. On November 29, 2012, the Plaintiffs were on duty performing their functions as City of 

Cleveland Police officers as both plain clothed and uniformed officers. 

10. At all times relevant, the plaintiffs performed their duties in accordance with the training given 

them and in compliance with all Cleveland Police Department directives and policies. They were 

current in their fire qualifications and training. 

11. On the evening of Thursday, November 29, 2012, Cleveland Police Department Detective John 

Jordan was working alone, in plain clothes and in an unmarked police vehicle, as part of the 

Downtown Service Unit. 

12. As part of Jordan’s normal patrol routine, he would frequent an area near the 2100 block of Lakeside 

Avenue that was known for drug use and trafficking, oftentimes referred to as “the wall” (near the 

Lutheran Metropolitan Ministry, a men’s homeless shelter). 

13. At approximately 10:26 PM, Jordan radioed his dispatch center requesting the Ohio license plate 

“FSA3495” (Timothy Russell’s vehicle) be checked only for “info,” stating the vehicle was parked at 

East 22nd  and Lakeside. 

14. Detective Jordan initiated a traffic stop of Russell’s vehicle on East 18th
 Street, between Rockwell 

and Superior, after observing a turn signal violation. Jordan stated his intention was to investigate the 

occupants of the vehicle, believing they were involved in illegal drug activity. 
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15. According to the BCI investigative report, the vehicle stopped for several seconds, during which 

Jordan stated the passenger was screaming and acting unstable. Shortly after Jordan exited his 

vehicle, but prior to approaching the subject vehicle to make contact with the occupants, the vehicle 

accelerated away, turning right onto Superior Avenue. 

16. According to the BCI investigative report, Jordan pursued but eventually lost sight of the vehicle on 

Superior Avenue. Jordan never radioed dispatch regarding the traffic stop or pursuit, did not 

document the incident on his duty log, never voluntarily came forward with this information, and 

twice gave statements omitting these events. 

17. Less than five minutes after Jordan’s brief pursuit with the subject vehicle, the subject vehicle drove 

past the Justice Center, in the 200 block of St. Clair Avenue, traveling at a speed calculated to be 

approximately 66 miles per hour. 

18. Outside of the municipal building at 205 W. St. Clair Avenue, Cleveland Police Officer Vasile 

Nan was retrieving a computer from his marked police cruiser to give to Mobile Services Unit 

Officer Alan Almeida to be repaired. Both officers were standing outside when Russell’s vehicle 

passed by. 

19. Just as the Russell vehicle passed the officers, a loud bang was heard, believed by both to be a 

gunshot directed towards them. Upon hearing this sound, both officers ducked. Other individuals in 

the area, including detectives, a security guard and a parking attendant also heard this noise and 

reported that it was consistent with a gunshot. 

20. Officer Nan ran to his cruiser and attempted to locate the subject vehicle, radioing a description 

to dispatch, along with the assertion that he was shot at from a vehicle occupied by two, black 

male occupants (incorrectly believing both subjects to be male). Officer Almeida ran into the 

building to retrieve his duty belt and later joined the tail-end of the pursuit in a marked cruiser. 

Case: 1:14-cv-02612  Doc #: 1  Filed:  11/28/14  6 of 16.  PageID #: 6



7 
 

21. Another marked unit in the area, manned by Cleveland Officers David Siefer and James Hummel, 

heard the radio transmission and observed a vehicle matching the description on the Detroit/Superior 

Bridge. An attempt to stop the vehicle was made, however the subject vehicle fled, failing to obey 

the order to stop (emergency lights and sirens). 

22. Pursuit of the Russell vehicle lasted approximately 25 minutes, reportedly reaching speeds in excess 

of 100 miles per hour at points. Surveillance videos obtained along the pursuit route depict that at 

one point, a minimum of 62 police vehicles were in pursuit or following along the pursuit route. 

These vehicles included marked and unmarked Cleveland Police Department vehicles, with Ohio 

State Highway Patrol troopers, Cuyahoga County Sheriff deputies, Bratenahl Police Department 

officers and officers of the RTA Police Department involved. 

23. During the course of the pursuit, radio traffic from pursuing officers, which was relayed by 

dispatchers, indicated a belief that the passenger of the vehicle was armed with a gun, had already 

fired at officers, was pointing the gun at pursuers, and was believed to be reloading a gun. 

24. An additional radio transmission during the pursuit informed officers that the subject vehicle had 

rammed a zone car. However, it was later found to be accidental contact during a quick turn during 

the pursuit, with Officer Fairchild’s cruiser striking the rear of the Russell vehicle. 

25. The pursuit eventually entered the City of East Cleveland where the subject vehicle entered a dead-

end staff parking lot at the Heritage Middle School, 14410 Terrace Road, East Cleveland, Ohio. 

26. A number of Cleveland Police vehicles followed the vehicle into the lot by way of the only access 

drive. Other police vehicles eventually blocked this drive, essentially trapping the vehicle and some 

police vehicles in the lot. Police personnel were located on both sides of the subject vehicle, after the 

subject vehicle doubled-back on the access drive apparently attempting to exit the lot. 
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27. In the parking lot, but prior to doubling-back, the zone car driven by Plaintiff Diaz made inadvertent 

contact with the rear corner of the Russell vehicle after it made a quick left turn in front of Diaz. The 

Russell vehicle turned directions, facing back towards Diaz, jumping a curb onto a grass island. 

28. Diaz quickly exited his vehicle and yelled “stop.” Diaz reportedly observed the passenger, whom he 

believed to be a male at the time, reach towards something and produced a black object which he 

perceived as a gun. 

29. Fearing for his life, based upon the belief that the passenger was armed and had already fired at 

officers, Diaz fired his handgun with his point of aim being at the passenger. The vehicle’s engine 

revved and the car began accelerating across the grass island, turning and coming directly towards 

Diaz. 

30. Diaz stated he believed the subject vehicle was going to ram him, pinning him between the subject 

vehicle and his cruiser. 

31. As the vehicle came off of the island, it straightened and missed striking Diaz. The vehicle then 

began traveling back out the same driveway in which it had entered the parking lot. 

32. Radio traffic after Diaz fired his weapon indicated that shots had been fired, but did not specify who 

had fired. This led other officers to incorrectly believe that the subjects had fired upon police 

officers. 

33. The Russell vehicle reportedly continued to accelerate towards the exit, narrowly missing striking 

other police vehicles and officers in the process. 

34. A marked, Cleveland Police Department zone car, occupied by Officer Robert Radosevic (driver) 

and Plaintiff Sistek (passenger), parked their vehicle in the access drive, partially blocking the 

subject vehicle’s exit route. As Sistek exited the passenger door, he looked up to find the subject 

vehicle traveling directly towards him, being only what he estimated to be 15 feet away. 

Case: 1:14-cv-02612  Doc #: 1  Filed:  11/28/14  8 of 16.  PageID #: 8



9 
 

35. Fearing that he was about to be struck, Sistek began firing his weapon at the driver, through the 

windshield of the subject vehicle, while running backwards. The Russell vehicle did in fact strike 

Sistek’s open passenger’s door, slamming it shut and collapsing a portion of the passenger’s side of 

the cruiser. 

36. Upon reaching the rear of his zone car, Sistek stated he went to the ground for cover, remaining in 

this position until all shots ceased. 

37. Plaintiff William Salupo, who by now was on foot to the rear of the Russell vehicle, observed the 

Russell vehicle strike the parked zone car with the vehicle’s engine continuing to rev, heard gunfire, 

and saw Sistek go to the ground. Salupo, believing Sistek had been run-over by the Russell vehicle 

and that Sistek was trapped beneath, fired his weapon. 

38. In the following seconds, multiple officers began firing, believing a shootout was taking place 

between officers and the occupants of the subject vehicle taking the lives of the occupants of the 

vehicle.  

39. All of the plaintiffs felt as though they had no other choice other than to discharge their firearms in 

order to deal with what they believe to be an imminent threat to their safety and the safety of other 

officers. Additionally, other officers from the scene stated that they too felt deadly force was 

justified, despite not firing their own weapons.  

40. No weapons were found in the Russell car. The bodies of the two occupants of the Russell 

vehicle were identified as Timothy R. Russell and Melissa A. Williams. Both were African 

Americans. 

41. At all times relevant, the plaintiffs performed their duties in accordance with the training given 

them and in compliance with all Cleveland Police Department directives and policies including 

those pertaining to the use of deadly force. They were current in their firearm qualifications and 

training. 
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42. Almost immediately the news media began to sensationalize the events. They reported the 

officers who discharged their weapons as being 12 white and one Hispanic and the deceased as 

African Americans. The news media reported that members of the community called the 

shootings murder, executions, and demanded that the officers involved be punished. Members of 

the community representing various factions exerted pressure upon the defendants to punish the 

officers.  

43. Traditionally, officers who are involved in shootings are ordered to serve a 45 day cooling off 

period in the gymnasium. This assignment involves menial and unpleasant tasks. It also denies 

the officers opportunities for overtime, secondary employment, pay for court appearances, and a 

chance to apply for promotions or transfers. 

44. The plaintiffs were immediately placed upon three days administrative leave with full pay. 

45. They reported to the gymnasium on December 3, 2102 as ordered. 

46. In February of 2013, the investigative division of the Ohio Attorney General’s Office (BCI) 

released its report finding the shootings occurred as a result of a “systemic failure in the 

Cleveland Police Department” including but not limited to a failure to supervise, a failure in 

radio procedure to permit all officers involved to be informed, and the failure of Detective Jordan 

to communicate his contact with the Russell vehicle to the department.  

47. The Attorney General specifically found that:  

. . . by failing to provide the adequate and necessary structure and 
support, the system, itself, failed the officers. Police officers have a 
very difficult job. They must make life and death decisions in a split 
second based on whatever information they have in that moment. In a 
situation like this, they are under tremendous stress. But, when you 
have an emergency, like what happened that night, the system has to 
be strong enough to override subjective decisions made by individuals 
who are under that extreme stress. 
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48. This report implicitly if not expressly cleared the plaintiffs of wrongdoing and any violation of 

Cleveland Police Department procedures even though it professed to not address whether any 

crimes had been committed. 

49. Despite the completion of the BCI investigation and its receipt by the defendants, and being 

cleared medically and psychologically, only Plaintiff O’ Donnell was permitted to leave the 

gymnasium for transitional duty on April 2, 2013. However she was ordered back to the gym on 

May 3, 2013. 

50. On June 3, 2013, all of the plaintiffs were permitted to return to full duty except for Plaintiff 

Rinkus who returned on July 1, 2013. 

51. On October 24, 2013, the news media inquired about the status of the officers involved in the 

shooting. Then Chief of Police Defendant McGrath told the media he had no idea the officers 

were on active duty even though he placed them on active duty. As a result of the media inquiry, 

he ordered the officers who fired their weapons back to restrictive duty within their own districts 

because it was politically expedient based upon the Plaintiffs being non-African Americans. 

McGrath ordered the commanders to inform the plaintiffs they could not work part time jobs. 

Plaintiffs were in effect subjected to “unofficial punishment” in violation of their constitutional 

rights. 

52. During May of 2014, the Cuyahoga County Grand Jury, after reviewing the matter extensively, 

did not return any charges against the Plaintiffs again implicitly clearing them of wrongdoing. 

53. The plaintiffs remained on restrictive duty until June 13, 2014 when they were permitted to 

return to full time duty. 
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54. Notwithstanding the “traditional 45 day cooling off period” Plaintiffs did not return to active 

duty for 16 months. They were thus denied a substantial amount of income that they would have 

otherwise received and chances to apply for promotions and transfers to specialized units. 

55. Many, if not all, of the officers who engaged in the pursuit and did not discharge their weapons 

have already been disciplined. Yet, Plaintiffs are still awaiting formal discipline. 

56. The defendants’ actions were intentional, wanton, malicious, willful, reckless, and negligent. 

 

Count I Discrimination 

57. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphs of this complaint as if fully rewritten herein. 

58. Plaintiffs suffered adverse employment action and unfair punishment arising from the events of 

November 29, 2012 including but not limited to being assigned to boring and menial tasks in the 

gym with no of chance overtime, secondary employment, pay for court appearances, no chance 

to apply for promotions or transfers to specialized units, and being prohibited from engaging in 

active police work as they had grown accustomed and contracted for. 

59. Plaintiffs are non-African Americans. 

60. Plaintiffs’ assignment to “gym duty” was substantially longer than that which had been meted 

out to similarly situated African American officers. By way of one example, an African 

American officer who actually shot someone was sent to the gym for 45 days and then was only 

disciplined for reaching into the person’s car. African American Detective John Jordan, whose 

failure to communicate his contact with the Russell vehicle and his pursuit of Russell was listed 

as one of the systemic faults that lead to the shooting, was not disciplined in anyway. 
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61. The City of Cleveland, through the other named defendants, and the other named defendants in 

their individual capacities, have a history of treating non-African American officers involved in 

the shootings of African Americans substantially harsher than African American officers.  

62. A serious dichotomy exists as a result of the defendants’ longstanding practices and procedures 

which place onerous burdens on non-African American officers, including the plaintiffs, because 

of their race and the race of persons who are the subjects of the legitimate use of deadly force. 

63. Available statistics confirm that the City of Cleveland and the other defendants have created a 

glaring disparity in assignments to the gymnasium based upon race. 

64. The defendants were on notice and aware of at least three prior suits alleging their same conduct 

was unconstitutional and a violation of Federal and state law. Two of the suits were successful. 

Yet, they knowingly and intentionally persist in this misconduct.   

65. The defendants do not possess a legitimate, non-discriminatory justification for the disparate 

treatment of the plaintiffs. Any reason advanced to explain this disparate treatment is merely a 

pretext for unlawful discrimination. 

66. The City of Cleveland and the other defendants have discriminated against Plaintiffs based upon 

race, and potentially other factors, in direct violation of 42 U. S. C. §1981, 42 U.S.C. §2000e-2, 

Ohio Rev. Code §4112.02(A) and potentially other provisions of law. 

67. As a direct and proximate result of such wrongdoing, Plaintiffs have suffered lost wages and 

earnings, impairment of their earning capacity, and impairment of their professional reputations, 

humiliation, emotional distress, mental anguish, and other serious damages.  These losses are 

expected to be permanent and ongoing. 

Count II Civil Rights Violation 

68. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphs of this complaint as if fully rewritten herein. 
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69. At all times relevant, Plaintiffs were and are citizens of the United States of America and thus 

entitled to the full benefits and equal protection of the Federal Constitution and all laws and 

regulations enacted thereunder. 

70. A set forth above and incorporated herein, the City of Cleveland, its officials, employees, agents, 

and representatives, the other named defendants in their individual and official capacities, were 

acting at all times under the color of statutes, ordinances, regulations, customs, and law. 

71. A set forth above and incorporated herein, the defendants knowingly and purposely deprived 

Plaintiffs of their clearly established rights, privileges, and immunities as secured by the 

Constitution and laws of the United States in violation of 42 U.S.C. §1983. These clearly 

established rights included, but were limited to, those afforded under the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the U.S. constitution (Due Process and Equal Protection). 

72. The defendants and the City of Cleveland’s officials, employees, agents, and representatives 

knew, or should have known, that their acts and omissions, as described herein, were prohibited 

by federal law. 

73. The defendants’ discriminatory mistreatment of Plaintiffs was perpetrated pursuant to the 

municipalities longstanding polices and customs some of which have been successfully 

challenged before. The key decisions made with regard to the length of Plaintiffs’ assignment to 

gymnasium duty and the adverse employment actions that were imposed upon them are 

attributable to City officials possessing final authority over such matters. 

74. As a direct and proximate result of the defendants’ interference with Plaintiffs’ Federal; 

Constitutional and statutory rights, they have suffered lost wages and earnings, impairment of 

their earning capacity, and impairment of their professional reputations, humiliation, emotional 
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distress, mental anguish, and other serious damages.  These losses are expected to be permanent 

and ongoing. 

Count III Breach of Employment Contract 

75. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphs of this complaint as if fully rewritten herein. 

76. Pursuant to the written polices, negotiated labor contract, verbal statements, and/or standard 

practices of the Cleveland Police Department, Plaintiffs possessed a right to continued 

employment free from unlawful discrimination and unjustified harassment. Plaintiffs were 

induced into continuing their employment with the City of Cleveland with promises of a non-

discriminatory work environment where employees would be treated fairly. 

77. Plaintiffs were further lead to believe that officers who were required to use deadly force in the 

course of their job duties would be treated fairly and impartially. Officers were lead to believe 

that if they used deadly force and were found to have acted appropriately and consistently with 

policy regarding the use of deadly force, then the only adverse action that would be taken against 

them would be the forty-five day cooling off period before being returned to active duty. 

78. Plaintiffs reasonably relied upon these promises, assurances, and past practices and would not 

have continued their employment with the City of Cleveland had they been advised that they 

would be subject to discrimination and harassment. 

79. Through no fault of the plaintiffs, the City of Cleveland breached these binding contractual 

commitments, both express and implied, to Plaintiffs’ substantial detriment. The City of 

Cleveland and the defendants should be estopped from denying the existence of these obligations 

as a result of its inequitable conduct. 

80. Under principles of Ohio common law and statutes, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover the 

aforementioned damages and losses which are expected to be on going. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against the City of Cleveland for 

compensatory damages of in an amount to be proven at trial, appropriate interest, reasonable 

attorney’s fees and litigation expenses, costs and any other legal, equitable or declaratory relief 

deemed appropriate. Plaintiff’s further demand judgment against the remaining defendants for 

compensatory and punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial, appropriate interest, 

reasonable attorney’s fees and litigation expenses, costs and any other legal, equitable or 

declaratory relief deemed appropriate.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

     /s/ Jonathan E. Rosenbaum 
     JONATHAN E. ROSENBAUM (0021698) 

Attorney for Plaintiffs 
     230 Third Street, Suite 101 

Elyria, Ohio 44035 
jerosenbau@windstream.net 
440-322-7972 

 
 

 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury on all issues raised in their complaint as set forth 

in this pleading. 

     /s/ Jonathan E. Rosenbaum 
     Jonathan E. Rosenbaum 

Attorney for Plaintiffs 
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